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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

CAMDEN VICINAGE

ANGELA READING,

Plaintiff,
V.

NORTH HANOVER TOWNSHIP, NEW JERSEY;

ROBERT DUFF, in his individual capacity and in his official
capacity as Chief of Police for North Hanover Township;

HELEN PAYNE, in her individual capacity;

COLONEL WES ADAMS, in his individual capacity and in
his official capacity as Commander, Joint Base McGuire-Dix-
Lakehurst (JB MDL) and 87th Air Base Wing, JB MDL, New
Jersey;

COLONEL ROBERT GRIMMETT, in his individual capacity
and in his official capacity as Commander of the 87" Mission
Support Group of the U.S. Air Force;

MEGAN HALL, in her individual capacity and in her official
capacity as a Lieutenant Colonel in the U.S. Air Force and
Deputy Commander of the 87" Security Forces Squadron;

NATHANIEL LESHER, in his individual capacity and in his
official capacity as a Major in the U.S. Air Force;

CHRISTOPHER SCHILLING, in his individual capacity and
in his official capacity as a Major in the U.S. Army Reserve;
and

JOSEPH VAZQUEZ, in his individual capacity and in his
official capacity a Civilian U.S. Department of the Air Force
Employee, and

COLONEL MITCHELL WISNIEWSKI, in his individual
capacity and in his official capacity as Deputy Commander,
Joint Base McGuire-Dix-Lakehurst and Commander, Army
Support Activity;

Defendants.
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Plaintiff Angela Reading, by and through her counsel, complains as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Angela Reading is the mother of two minor daughters. She is also a Villanova
law student and was—until the events giving rise to this suit—Vice President of the Northern
Burlington County (New Jersey) Regional School District Board of Education. When she
expressed her natural parental concern by means of a simple Facebook post about the sexual
nature of content on display in an elementary school, Defendants commenced a far-reaching
campaign of retaliation against her, enlisting the aid of local, state, and federal government
agencies.

2. For no reason other than that they detested her constitutionally protected
expression of her point of view on an issue of public concern, Defendants abused the power of
governmental offices to censor Mrs. Reading’s speech and retaliate against her with a campaign
of smears, lies and referrals to assorted law enforcement agencies for investigation as a “threat,”
using the instrumentalities and tools of their official positions to create a public fury specifically
directed against Mrs. Reading.

3. Defendants acted singularly and in conspiracy with one another to deprive and
chill the exercise of Mrs. Reading’s rights, including rights protected by the United States and
New Jersey constitutions, as well as other laws.

4. The steps taken by Defendants against Mrs. Reading lacked any legitimate
purpose. In fact, Defendants continued their actions apace even after they learned of the growing
danger to Mrs. Reading that caused her to fear for the physical safety of herself and her family

due to the community outrage the Defendants had incited.
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5. Therefore, Mrs. Reading sues for injunctive and declaratory relief, as well as an
award of damages as appropriate, to prevent Defendants from continuing to engage in this
campaign against her.

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Angela Reading is a citizen and resident of North Hanover Township,
New Jersey. Mrs. Reading is the mother of two minor children and is a third-year law student at
Villanova University’s Charles Widger School of Law. While in law school, she has been
involved in the Villanova Civil Justice Clinic and the Pro Bono Society, and she has interned
with both the New Jersey School Boards Association and the New Jersey Attorney General’s
Office. From 2018 to December 2022, when she was forced to resign to protect her family, Mrs.
Reading served as an elected member of the Northern Burlington County Regional School
District Board of Education for North Hanover Township. She was also Vice President of the
Board of Education at the time of her resignation.

7. Defendant North Hanover Township, New Jersey, is a local governmental
municipal entity established and organized under and pursuant to the laws of the State of New
Jersey with the authority to sue and be sued in its own name. This defendant is suable under 42
U.S.C. § 1983.

8. Defendant Robert Duff was, at all times relevant to this complaint, and remains an
adult resident of the State of New Jersey and the Chief of Police for North Hanover Township,
New Jersey. He is a policymaker and/or final decision-maker for the Township’s police
department. He is sued in both his individual capacity and his official capacity as Chief of Police
of North Hanover Township. He is suable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because, at all times relevant

to this complaint, he acted under color of state law in taking action against Mrs. Reading.
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9. Defendant Helen Payne was, at all times relevant to this complaint, and remains
the Superintendent of the North Hanover Township School District. North Hanover Township
School District is a public entity established and organized under and pursuant to the laws of the
State of New Jersey. She is a policymaker for the District who was involved in communications
with the other Defendants respecting Mrs. Reading and the suppression of her protected speech,
which communications the District is refusing to disclose, citing various frivolous claims of
exemption from disclosure under New Jersey’s Open Public Records Act (OPRA). She is sued in
her individual capacity only. She is suable in her individual capacity under 42 U.S.C. § 1983
because, at all times relevant to this complaint, she acted under color of state law in taking action
against Mrs. Reading.

10. Defendant Colonel Wes Adams was, at all times relevant to this complaint, and
remains Commander of Joint Base McGuire-Dix-Lakehurst (“Joint Base”) and of the 87th Air
Base Wing, JB MDL, New Jersey. He is a policymaker and/or final decision-maker for the Joint
Base and thus the U.S. government, and has supervisory liability for the Defendants named
herein who are under his jurisdiction and command. He is sued in his official capacity as to the
federal constitutional and statutory claims herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and
also in his individual capacity as to the damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration
Act.

11.  Defendant Adams was and is responsible for monitoring and supervising
Defendants Grimmett, Hall, Lesher, Schilling, and Vazquez, who are each answerable to him
within their service’s chain of command as he is Joint Base Commander. As more particularly
pleaded below, as Joint Base Commander and supervisor of all U.S. Air Force personnel at the

Joint Base, Defendant Adams knew of, ratified, and approved the actions of Defendants
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Grimmett, Hall, Lesher, Schilling, and Vazquez that have deprived, are depriving, and threaten
to continue to deprive, Mrs. Reading of her rights.

12. Defendant Colonel Robert Grimmett was, at all times relevant to this complaint,
and remains Commander of the 87" Mission Support Group of the U.S. Air Force and thus
Commander of the 87" Security Forces (JB MDL Police) Commander of the Joint Base. He is
sued in his official capacity as to the federal constitutional and statutory claims herein, seeking
injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in his individual capacity as to the damages claim
under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act. Defendant Grimmett was and is responsible for
the supervision of Defendant Hall, as Commander of the Joint Base Security Squadron. As more
particularly pleaded below, Defendant Grimmett knew of, ratified, and approved the actions of
Defendant Hall that have deprived, are depriving, and threaten to continue to deprive, Mrs.
Reading of her rights.

13. Upon information and belief, Defendant Megan Hall was, at all times relevant to
this complaint, and remains a Lieutenant Colonel in the U.S. Air Force and a Deputy
Commander of the 87" Security Forces Squadron. She is an adult citizen and resident of the
State of New Jersey. She is sued in her official capacity as to the federal constitutional and
statutory claims herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in her individual
capacity as to the damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act.

14. Upon information and belief, Defendant Nathaniel Lesher was, at all times
relevant to this complaint, and remains a Major in the U.S. Air Force and an adult resident of the
State of New Jersey. He is sued in his official capacity as to the federal constitutional and
statutory claims herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in his individual

capacity as to the damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act.
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15. Upon information and belief, Defendant Christopher Schilling was, at all times
relevant to this complaint, and remains a Major in the U.S. Army Reserve and an adult citizen
and resident of the State of New Jersey. He is sued in his official capacity as to the federal
constitutional and statutory claims herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in
his individual capacity as to the damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act.

16. Upon information and belief, Defendant Joseph Vazquez was, at all times relevant
to this complaint, and remains a civilian employee of the U.S. Department of the Air Force and
an adult resident of the State of New Jersey. As Joint Base “Antiterrorism Program Manager,”
he acts as a policymaker and/or final decision-maker for the Joint Base and, thus the U.S.
government. He is sued in his official capacity as to the federal constitutional and statutory
claims herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in his individual capacity as to
the damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act.

17. Defendant Colonel Mitchell Wisniewski was, at all times relevant to this
complaint, and remains Deputy Commander of Joint Base McGuire-Dix-Lakehurst and
Commander of Army Support Activity at the Joint Base. He is a policymaker and/or final
decision-maker for the Joint Base and thus the U.S. government, and has supervisory liability for
the Defendants named herein who are under his jurisdiction and command, including Defendant
Schilling. He is sued in his official capacity as to the federal constitutional and statutory claims
herein, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, and also in his individual capacity as to the
damages claim under the Religious Freedom Restoration Act.

18.  Defendant Wisniewski was and is responsible for monitoring and supervising
Defendant Schilling, who is answerable to him within the U.S. Army and Army Reserve’s chain
of command. As more particularly pleaded below, as Deputy Base Commander and supervisor

of all U.S. Army and Army Reserve personnel at the Joint Base, Defendant Wisniewski knew of,
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ratified, and approved the actions of Defendant Schilling that have deprived, are depriving, and
threaten to continue to deprive, Mrs. Reading of her rights.

19.  Defendants and their officials are responsible for creating, adopting, approving,
ratifying, and enforcing the pertinent rules, regulations, laws, policies, practices, procedures,
and/or customs that were the moving force behind the actions that deprived, are depriving, and
threaten to continue to deprive, Mrs. Reading of her rights as set forth in this complaint.

20. As more particularly pleaded below, Defendants approved of, directed, ratified,
and/or carried out the acts, policies, practices, customs, and/or procedures that deprived, are
depriving, and threaten to continue to deprive, Mrs. Reading of her rights as set forth in this
complaint.

21. As more particularly pleaded below, Defendant Payne acted under color of state
law in depriving Mrs. Reading of her rights under the Constitution and laws of the United States
and Constitution and laws of the State of New Jersey by means of the retaliatory acts alleged and
her cooperation with the other defendants in the punishment of Mrs. Reading’s protected speech.
Defendant Payne used the powers of her office, though as a rogue actor with a personal vendetta
and personal motives, to target Mrs. Reading, as more particularly pleaded below.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

22. This action raises federal questions under the First and Fourteenth Amendments
of the United States Constitution and under federal law, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202
(Declaratory Judgments), as well as 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988, and 1920.

23. This Court has jurisdiction over these federal claims under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and
1343.

24, Mrs. Reading’s state law claims are properly before this Court pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1367(a) because those state law claims are so related to the claims in the action that are
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within the Court’s original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under
Article III of the United States Constitution.

25. Pursuant to N.J. Stat. § 10:6-2d, Mrs. Reading’s state law claims under the New
Jersey Civil Rights Act are triable in this Court.

26. This Court has authority to grant the requested injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C. §
1343(3).

217. This Court has authority to grant the requested declaratory relief pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, as well as N.J. Stat. § 2A:16-50 et segq.

28. This Court has authority to grant Mrs. Reading’s prayer for costs, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, under 28 U.S.C. § 1920 and 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

29. Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2),
as a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims herein arose in this District.

30.  Any and all conditions precedent to the bringing of this suit have been satisfied,
and Mrs. Reading’s claims are ripe for review and decision.

31. This complaint is filed within the applicable statutes of limitations and repose for
all claims asserted herein.

32.  Defendants enjoy no lawful immunity, including qualified immunity, from the
claims asserted in this complaint.

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

Mrs. Reading’s Protected Speech
33. On November 21, 2022, Mrs. Reading attended “Math Night” at Upper
Elementary School in the Northern Burlington County Regional School District. With Mrs.

Reading at the school were her two young daughters, ages six and seven.
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34.  Walking through the hall of the school, Mrs. Reading and her daughters noticed
the wall covered with posters, seemingly created by students. When they looked closer, they saw
many of the posters had sexual terms, including “polysexual,” “pansexual,” and “genderqueer.”
One of Mrs. Reading’s daughters then asked her what “polysexual” meant. Mrs. Reading was
shocked and did not know how to respond to her young child’s question about a complex issue
of sexuality and found this sexual language to be inappropriate in an elementary school.

35. Mrs. Reading took action to address the inappropriate posters by contacting a
parent of one of the children who created the posters, contacting a school board member, and
having her husband arrange a meeting with the school Superintendent, Defendant Payne.
Despite Mrs. Reading’s diligent efforts, she was met with resistance from all three parties she
contacted. They dismissed her concerns and told her that the posters were “not a big deal” due to
the common exposure of similar content in daily conversations and social media. Mrs. Reading
was advised to accept the presence of this inappropriate sexual content in elementary schools,
despite her objections.

36. Dissatisfied with the North Hanover Township School District’s refusal to act, on
November 22, 2022, Mrs. Reading then made a post in the Facebook group named “NJ Fresh
Faced Schools.” A true and correct copy of Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post is attached hereto as
Exhibit 1.

37. A photograph of one of the student posters was included in the post, with the
name of the student blacked out by Mrs. Reading.

38. Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post did not violate any law or part of the Facebook

code of conduct or terms of use.
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39.  Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post did not name any student, staff member, or school.
It noted only that the school at which the photograph was taken is located in North Hanover
Township.

40.  Mrs. Reading’s post respectfully expressed her concerns, but it did not call for
any person to take any form of action or make a response.

41. Mrs. Reading did not threaten anyone or provoke or incite violence.

42.  Mrs. Reading’s post stressed that she was expressing her own opinion as a mother
of children in the local school district, in which she held no office, and was not speaking as a
member of the Northern Burlington County Regional School Board, which was not involved in
the controversy at the local school.

43.  Mrs. Reading’s post was wholly lawful and fully protected by the First
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution.

44. Mrs. Reading’s post was wholly lawful and fully protected by the Constitution of
the State of New Jersey.

45. Despite the constitutionally protected status of Mrs. Reading’s post and her lack
of any connection to the U.S. Armed Forces, various individuals at the Joint Base began to
leverage their power to activate local police and state agencies, including the New Jersey Office
of Homeland Security and Preparedness, the Burlington County (NJ) Prosecutor’s Office of
Counter-Terrorism, and the New Jersey State Police Regional Operations Intelligence Center, in
a concerted effort to suppress and chill Mrs. Reading’s right to free speech and right to free
exercise of religion.

46. Mrs. Reading’s exercise of her rights, protected under federal and state law,
motivated the censorship of her speech and the retaliatory actions of the Defendants described in

this Complaint, including Defendant Duff as Chief of Police of North Hanover Township,

10
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Defendants Grimmett, Hall, Lesher, Schiller and Vazquez as personnel of the Joint Base
(hereafter also referred to collectively as “the Joint Base Actors”), and Defendants Adams and
Wisniewski as their superior officers in the Joint Base chain of command (hereafter also referred
to collectively as “the Joint Base Superiors™).

The Actions of Defendants
Grimmett, Hall, Lesher, Schiller, Vazquez, and Duff

47. On November 23, 2022, Defendant Schilling, then using his personal email
account, attacked Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post in an email to parents and local school staff
members, complaining (among other things) that, according to him, Mrs. Reading did not
understand that the term “polysexual” means “simply an attraction to many genders and
identities”—as if to say that impressionable young children should be acquainted with this
bizarre and sexually freighted concept. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto
as Exhibit 2.

48. Schilling’s November 23rd email, part of a tranche of documents produced in
response to Mrs. Reading’s OPRA request to the Northern Burlington County Regional School
District, was the first in a chain of personal emails from Schilling that were only a prelude to his
use of his military email account and position to involve Joint Base personnel, including the
Security Commander, Defendant Grimmett, in the censorship of, and retaliation against, Mrs.
Reading’s protected speech.

49. On November 25, 2022, in another email to parents and school staffers, Schilling
called for an ethics complaint against Mrs. Reading because her Facebook post was supposedly
“stirring up right wing extremists...”. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as
Exhibit 3.

50. On November 27, 2022, Schilling sent an email to the same group advising that

he was “reaching out to other resources in the area to gather support for this issue” — meaning, to

11
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gather support against Mrs. Reading, which was likely when he began involving military
personnel in his vendetta. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.

51. On November 29, 2022, Schilling sent another email to the group falsely alleging
that Mrs. Reading’s protected speech violated the School Ethics Act and school district policy,
even though her Facebook post clearly stated that she was merely expressing her own opinion on
social media, which policy expressly permits. A true and correct copy of this email is attached
hereto as Exhibit 5. This was followed on the same date by another personal email revealing
that he had asked the Northern Burlington Regional School District superintendent Andrew
Zuckerman to remove Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post and that “more positive things are going to
happen tomorrow.” A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 6.

52.  In the same email of November 29, 2022, Schilling told the group “I think we
need to keep the pressure on until her [Mrs. Reading’s] disruptive and dangerous actions cease,
so please share any historical items to help us shape our messaging for those not aware...”
(Emphasis added.) In other words, Schilling is asking Mrs. Reading’s fellow citizens to gather
and report “evidence” against her that he will be using under his military title in combination
with other military personnel in the coming effort to censor and retaliate against Mrs. Reading
because of her protected speech. That is, Schilling is asking the group to dredge up other
protected speech as ‘“‘evidence” against Plaintiff, even though it was never the subject of any
public controversy. This evidences that Schilling intended to use every means at his disposal,
including abuse of his position as a military officer, to censor and silence Mrs. Reading’s point
of view.

53. Thus, on the same date of November 29, 2022, Schilling, now acting under his
military title and using his official military email account, emailed Defendant Lesher (with a cc

to Defendant Hall) about Mrs. Reading’s Facebook post. A true and correct copy of this email is

12
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attached hereto as Exhibit 7. This email was part of a tranche of documents obtained via Mrs.
Reading’s separate OPRA request to the Township of North Hanover (as distinct from the North
Hanover Township Public School District, which is resisting public records disclosure, evidently
at the insistence of Defendant Payne, as pleaded below). In the same email thread, Lesher
advised Schilling that “[A]s we discussed, I will forward your concern to Chief Duff (North
Hanover PD) for awareness. Thank you for bringing us in the loop....”” (Emphasis added.)

54. For no reason other than he disagreed with it, Defendant Schilling’s military
email of November 29 labeled Mrs. Reading’s post a security threat, even though he knew that
his doing so was without legal basis and that his action would trigger severe adverse
consequences for Mrs. Reading. This blatant mischaracterization was made to suppress Mrs.
Reading’s speech and cause her emotional harm and other injuries—in keeping with Schilling’s
earlier declaration that “we need to keep the pressure on” until Mrs. Reading ceases to express
her point of view.

55. In the same email of November 29, 2022, noted above, Defendant Lesher, also
under his official title and using his official military email account, replied to Defendant
Schilling (with a cc to Defendant Hall) stating that he was sorry “you guys” (meaning military
personnel) had to be exposed to Mrs. Reading’s free speech objecting to the manner in which
young children were exposed to inappropriate sexual content in an elementary school. A true
and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 8.

56. On November 30, 2022, apparently dissatisfied with the police and military
response up to this point, Defendant Schilling, again under his official title and using his military
email account, emailed Defendant Lesher (with a cc to Defendant Hall) to share an online
comment by someone who claimed to be “horrified” by Mrs. Reading’s protected speech. A true

and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 9.

13
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57. This unnamed commenter falsely claimed that Mrs. Reading had “endanger[ed]
our children” because Chaos and Control, an education advocacy site, wrote about the public
posters hanging on the wall of an elementary school in a N.J. school district. Schilling evidently
considered this comment as sufficient "evidence" to support the Joint Base Actors’ ongoing
assertions that Mrs. Reading's protected speech was a threat to children.

58.  Without any proof, this anonymous “parent” labeled Chaos and Control’s
newsletter a “far right extremist publication.” Defendants Schilling, Lesher, and Hall each
appeared to take the word of this unidentified individual at face value, without any investigation
into the veracity of the claims made, apparently because the claims accorded with the
predetermined narrative they and the other involved personnel wished to propagate, and because
the claims of an anonymous individual might supply a pretext for action against Mrs. Reading.

59. Also on November 30, 2022, Defendant Lesher responded to Defendant Schilling
via official military email, with a cc to Defendants Hall and Vazquez, that he would again
“push” the issue to Defendant Duff, North Hanover Township’s Chief of Police, and include in
these efforts Defendant Vazquez as Installation Antiterrorism Program Manager at the Joint
Base. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.

60. On the same date, using his personal email account, Defendant Schilling advised
the aforementioned group of parents and school staffers that “I am actively working with the base
leadership over the past few days and they are working to support us in our efforts” (emphasis
added)—meaning efforts to censor and retaliate against Mrs. Reading because of her First
Amendment-protected Facebook post. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as
Exhibit 11.

61.  The same email further reveals that Schilling was “in steady communication with

the 87" Security Forces (JB MDL Police) Commander (he’s my next door [sic] neighbor) and he

14
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is aware of what is going on talking with his surrounding police chiefs to insure heightened
awareness on Angela’s actions.” On information and belief, Schilling was referring to Defendant
Grimmett, as the Commander of the 87™ Mission Support Group, who is also overall
Commander of the 87" Security Forces at the Joint Base.

62.  Based on Schilling’s personal emails and the military emails among Defendants
Schilling, Grimmett, Hall, Lesher and Vazquez, and the surrounding context, it is apparent that
the Joint Base Actors intended to target Mrs. Reading because they disagreed with the content
and viewpoint of her speech, not any objectively reasonable concern for safety or security. The
Joint Base Actors further intended to and did use the prestige and influence of the United States
military to secure the aid of local authorities in their efforts to target Mrs. Reading, despite
having no objective evidence of any danger or threat to security from Mrs. Reading whatsoever.

63. In point of fact, throughout these events, the only individuals who have faced any
credible danger have been Mrs. Reading and her family; yet Defendants have failed to take any
meaningful steps to ensure her safety.

64. Also, on November 30, 2022, Defendant Vazquez, in his official position as the
Installation Antiterrorism Program Manager at the Joint Base, and using his official military
email account, emailed Defendants Schilling, Lesher, and Hall, stating that Mrs. Reading’s
protected speech “gets under my skin.” This comment—with which everyone in Defendants’
military email chain agreed—provides clear evidence of constitutionally invidious animus
toward Mrs. Reading due solely to the content and viewpoint of her speech. A true and correct
copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 12.

65-  In that same email, Defendant Vazquez informed everyone on the military email
chain that he was sending all of his material on Mrs. Reading to his “partners at the NJ Office of

Homeland Security and Preparedness as well as the NJ State Police Regional Operations
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Intelligence Center (ROIC)” because “[b]oth agencies analysts keep an eye on far right/hate
groups.”

66. On information and belief, Vazquez, as “Antiterrorism Program Manager,” had
never so acted regarding any concern about “far left/hate groups,” which further evidences the
viewpoint and content-based discrimination at work in the targeting of Mrs. Reading’s protected
speech by the Joint Base Actors, acting in concert as shown by their official military email
communications with each other.

67.  Defendant Hall, as Deputy Commander of the 87" Mission Support Group’s
Security Force, also acted in furtherance of the conspiracy with Defendants Schilling, Lesher,
and Vazquez to censor and retaliate against Mrs. Reading’s protected speech.

68. On November 30, 2022, Hall emailed Defendant Helen Payne, Superintendent of
the North Hanover Township School District, and Northern Burlington Regional Superintendent
Andrew Zuckerman, from her official military email account, addressing Mrs. Reading’s
protected speech at length, and copying several military personnel. A true and correct copy of
this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 13.

69. One of these personnel was her superior, Defendant Grimmett, Commander of the
87" Mission Support Group who oversees the Joint Base Security Force—the same Colonel
Grimmett with whom, as noted above, Defendant Schilling was apparently “in steady
communication” while Grimmett was “talking with his surrounding police chiefs to insure
heightened awareness on Angela’s actions.” (Emphasis added.)

70.  Defendant Hall also indicates in the referenced email that she has already
provided Defendant Payne with various posts [regarding Mrs. Reading] for her information and
will forward same to Dr. Zuckerman if he wishes. Defendant Hall went on to offer them more

assistance if needed. Payne then forwarded Defendant Hall’s email to Defendant Duff on the
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same day, further indicating the cooperation of all three in the civil rights conspiracy pleaded
below.

71.  Defendant Hall, who has no children in the North Hanover Township Upper
Elementary School but acts as Joint Base liaison to the North Hanover Township School Board
because some children of Base personnel attend the school, falsely described Mrs. Reading’s
original Facebook post of November 22, 2022 and related posts—all protected by the First
Amendment—as “a concern for the safety of our military children and families as they could
become targets from extremist personnel/groups.”

72. Hall knew that Mrs. Reading presented no such threat. In order to create the false
impression of a threat, however, Hall’s November 30th email cited above falsely alleged that
Mrs. Reading “exposed parents’ names” in her posts, when no names are mentioned. Hall also
falsely alleged that Mrs. Reading was speaking “in her capacity as a board member” [of the
Northern Burlington County Regional Board of Education] when, as noted, Mrs. Reading’s
November 22nd Facebook post expressly disclaims any connection to her Board membership
and stresses that she is merely expressing her personal opinion as a citizen with children in the
North Hanover School District, of whose Board she was not a member.

73.  Revealing that she knew full well that she was attempting to quasi-criminalize
Mrs. Reading’s clearly protected expression of opinion, Hall’s email frets that “Ms. Angela
Reading encouraged people of like mindedness to attend the monthly BOE [Board of Education]
meetings and express the same view point [sic].” (Emphasis added.)

74. Defendant Hall’s November 30th email to Defendant Payne goes on to suggest
that Mrs. Reading is guilty of “ethics violations” and that she should resign from the Regional

Board. Said email was copied to the Northern Burlington Regional Superintendent Andrew
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Zuckerman in an obvious attempt to have Mrs. Reading removed from the Board for expressing
her “view point [sic].”

75. It does not appear that Defendant Hall has ever taken similar actions against
parents who criticized the local school system for other reasons on Facebook, even when they
have explicitly mentioned classrooms and teachers online, as more particularly pleaded below.
This disparate treatment indicates that Defendant Hall, along with the other Joint Base Actors,
targeted Mrs. Reading for the particular viewpoint expressed in her Facebook post.

76. In sum, without any evidence, the Joint Base Actors acted in concert to label
Mrs. Reading a “far-right extremist” and a security threat, worthy of government surveillance,
and urged state authorities to monitor and take other action against Mrs. Reading for no other
reason than her making a simple, constitutionally protected objection on Facebook to age-
inappropriate sexual content in an elementary school that directly impacted her own children.

77. Also on November 30, 2022, following the above-noted military email from
Defendant Hall to Superintendent Payne, Defendant Lesher, under his official title and using his
military email account, emailed Defendant Duff “Per our discussion”—thus further evidencing
the cooperation of the Joint Base Actors with Defendant Duff and local law enforcement in a
conspiracy to target Mrs. Reading for censorship, investigation, and adverse official action
against her. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 14.

78. The prior “discussion” between Defendant Lesher and Defendant Duff revealed in
said email is believed to have included a request that Defendant Duff attempt to have Mrs.
Reading’s Facebook post taken down. This evidence dovetails with Defendant Schilling’s
personal email of November 29, 2022, noted above, in which he advised the group of parents and

staffers that “more positive things are going to happen tomorrow.”
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79.  Upon information and belief, it was at this point that the federal and other
Defendants came together to carry out an integrated conspiracy against Mrs. Reading aimed at
censoring her speech and chilling and dissuading her from engaging in constitutionally protected
conduct going forward by causing her to fear that she was under surveillance by, and subject to
enforcement action from, elements of federal, state, and local government, including the United
States military and the Department of Homeland Security, as shown below.

80. As further pleaded below, Defendants Duff, Grimmett, Hall, Lesher, Schilling,
and Vazquez, along with Defendant Payne, were each personally and directly involved in the
resulting conspiracy, abusing the auspices and power of their positions to make overt acts in
furtherance of this conspiracy with the intent to punish Mrs. Reading’s exercise of her legally
protected rights.

81. Said conspiracy had (and continues to have) no legitimate or legal purpose but
was instead motivated by opposition to the point of view expressed by Mrs. Reading and the
exercise of her constitutionally protected right to express that point of view.

82. Upon information and belief, the conspiracy between the Joint Base Actors,
Defendant Duff and Defendant Payne continues to this day. And, even if it has been
momentarily suspended, it can be resumed at any time, making this case justiciable under the
doctrine of capable of repetition, yet evading review. In particular, evidencing this ongoing
threat to the exercise of constitutional rights, the email dated November 30, 2022, from
Defendant Vazquez to Defendants Schilling, Lesher, and Hall speaks of how the New Jersey
Office of Homeland Security and Preparedness and the New Jersey State Police Regional
Operations Intelligence Center “keep an eye on far right/hate groups.” (Emphasis added.) A true

and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 15.
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The Censorship of Mrs. Reading’s Protected Speech

83. On November 30, 2022, the day after Defendant Schilling emailed parents and
school staffers to advise that “more positive things are going to happen tomorrow,” Defendant
Duff, acting on behalf of Defendant North Hanover Township and at the instigation of the Joint
Base Actors, contacted the Facebook group administrator Nicole (“Nik”) Stouffer via Facebook
messenger asking her to call him. A true and correct copy of this Facebook message is attached
hereto as Exhibit 16.

84. Ms. Stouffer did so later that day and, in that call, Defendant Duff pressured
Ms. Stouffer to take down the post, citing alleged fears of terroristic threats and school violence.
In substance, Defendant Duff told Stouffer that students could die if she did not remove the post,
drawing parallels to the devastating incidents at Uvalde Elementary School and the Colorado
Springs nightclub. Defendant Duff also stated that the North Hanover police were working in
cooperation with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and military officials from the Joint
Base concerning Mrs. Reading. Defendant Duff would later make the same representation
directly to Mrs. Reading.

85. Ms. Stouffer reacted to Defendant Duff by sending a Facebook message to Mrs.
Reading that same day. Mrs. Reading had never previously met or spoken with Ms. Stouffer.
Ms. Stouffer relayed what Defendant Duff had told her. A true and correct copy of this
correspondence is attached hereto as Exhibit 17.

86. Because what Ms. Stouffer said to Mrs. Reading greatly concerned her, Mrs.
Reading felt she had no choice but to agree with Ms. Stouffer’s decision to take down her post.
Specifically, Mrs. Reading feared that if she did not take down the post, local police and other
levels of law enforcement, including military authorities, would take action against her on the

theory that she was liable for inciting violence.
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87.  Later that day, Mrs. Reading emailed Defendant Duff registering her objections to
this interference with her free speech rights. Neither Defendant Duff nor anyone else from
Defendant North Hanover Township replied to this email. A true and correct copy of this email
is attached hereto as Exhibit 18.

88. Later in the afternoon, at 4:00 PM on November 30, 2022, Defendant Duff
emailed Defendants Hall, Lesher and Vazquez to inform them that he had succeeded in getting
Mrs. Reading’s constitutionally protected Facebook post taken down, as the military had
requested, and that “I will continue to see if I can get additional posts [by Mrs. Reading]
removed from other social media posts”—thereby continuing the conspiracy. (Emphasis added.)
A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 19.

89. On December 1, 2022, Defendant Duff called Mrs. Reading from the police
station. He confirmed that he had directed Mrs. Stouffer to take down the Facebook post and
stated he had received emails from the Joint Base calling her an “extremist.” When asked to
provide those emails, Defendant Duff declined, making the frivolous and knowingly false claim
that the emails were “classified.” As noted above, these “classified” emails, some of which are
exhibits to this complaint, were disgorged by North Hanover Township (but not the North
Hanover Township School District, which is resisting disclosure) pursuant to Mrs. Reading’s
request under OPRA.

Defendants’ Continued Effort to Censor Mrs. Reading
and Chill Her Protected Speech

90.  Having succeeded in using Defendant Duff as their “cat’s paw,” the work of
Defendant Schilling and the other Joint Base Actors was not done. On or about December 1,
2022, their efforts to suppress Mrs. Reading’s protected speech went even further when they
tried to gin up fear and suppress another of her Facebook posts which simply shared screenshots

of others’ Facebook comments. In an email to Defendant Lesher (Nate) on that date, Defendant
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Schilling falsely claimed that this second post constituted a security threat and used his position
and power to try to have it, too, removed. A true and correct copy of this email is attached
hereto as Exhibit 20.

91. Furthermore, on December 1, 2022, Defendant Vazquez, again acting in his
official capacity as the Joint Base Installation Antiterrorism Program Manager, emailed
Defendant Duff to ask him to forward Mrs. Reading’s lawful, constitutionally protected, and
non-threatening Facebook post to the Mansfield, New Jersey, Police, thereby involving a second
local police department. A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto as Exhibit 21.

92. In the same email, Defendant Vazquez revealed that he had forwarded Mrs.
Reading’s post and Defendant Schilling’s “concerns” to the New Jersey Office of Homeland
Security and Preparedness and the New Jersey State Police in “hopes of getting an IDR [i.e., an
Incident Detection and Response] sent to schools and police departments.” That is, in
furtherance of the continuing conspiracy, Defendant Vazquez intended to trigger a preposterous
widespread law enforcement investigation and state of alarm over Mrs. Reading’s protected
speech as if it were an “incident” of potential (or even actual) criminality.

93. The military’s decision to send emails to the New Jersey Office of Homeland
Security and Preparedness and the New Jersey State Police about a citizen’s social media posts
when there was no actual or credible threat is an abuse of power and had a clear chilling effect
on Mrs. Reading’s exercise of rights guaranteed by the Constitution and laws of the United
States, particularly the First Amendment.

94.  Two more key emails were sent on December 5, 2022. The first concerning
Mrs. Reading was from the New Jersey Office of Homeland Security and Preparedness
(NJOHSP) to Defendant Vazquez and others, indicating the NJOHSP would “loop in the

Burlington County Prosecutor's Office Counter-Terrorism Coordinator for situational
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awareness”. The second was from Defendant Vazquez to Defendant Duff thanking him for his
support, and informing Duff that he has been working with a “Threat Working Group”
concerning Mrs. Reading. A true and correct copy of the email exchange containing these two
emails is attached hereto as Exhibit 22.

Further Actions of Defendant Duff
Following National News Coverage

95. On December 7, 2022, Mrs. Reading was faced with a difficult decision as she
sought to defend her reputation against the vicious attacks by the Defendants. With little choice,
she courageously took to the airwaves of the Fox News network to expose the unjust actions of
the Joint Base Actors against her, including unwarranted surveillance and censorship. Despite
her reservations, Mrs. Reading agreed to appear on the Tucker Carlson Show because Fox
News—having received information from a credible New Jersey Substack article—was
determined to run the story.

96. Apparently stung by the national news coverage of his unlawful actions in
cooperation with the Joint Base Actors, Defendant Duff, evincing malice, attempted to find
evidence that Mrs. Reading’s children had not viewed the student posters with sexual language.
He improperly accessed and viewed a recording of the elementary school’s surveillance footage,
evidently supplied by Defendant Payne, showing Mrs. Reading and her children on the night in
question. Duff had no legitimate law enforcement purpose for this retaliatory action, and his
actions were contrary to the law.

97. Defendant Duff then proceeded to claim to others, including one of Mrs.
Reading’s neighbors, that the video revealed that Mrs. Reading’s daughter had not read or seen
the posters in the hallway and that Mrs. Reading was a liar. That claim is false.

98. In what was apparently a further effort to justify his actions, even though it was

not required or justified by any objectively reasonable law enforcement need, Defendant Duff
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coordinated a multi-jurisdictional show of force for the December 13, 2022 meeting of the North
Hanover Township Board of Education, which Mrs. Reading attended as a citizen and parent. In
an unprecedented move for the Board’s meetings, attendees were subjected to metal detectors
and the searching of bags. Moreover, Defendant Duff had law enforcement personnel line the
walls of the meeting room.

99.  During the meeting, various speakers—whipped into a frenzy by Defendants’
campaign against Mrs. Reading—engaged in unacceptable behavior by using abusive language,
including vulgar and disrespectful name-calling, falsely accusing Mrs. Reading of jeopardizing
the safety of the schools when no “threat” had ever materialized. It was wholly out of order, as
well as unprecedented for a board of education to permit attendees to engage in disruptive and
offensive behavior by launching personal attacks and making disparaging remarks about a
resident and parent in the community, who was also present at the meeting and holds no elected
position and wields no decision-making power in the local school district.

Further Actions by Defendant Schilling

100. Defendant Schilling—emboldened by Defendant Duff’s success in his actions
against Mrs. Reading—made social media posts about her that appeared to be official U.S.
government statements concerning her original Facebook post. Using inflammatory rhetoric and
making unfounded charges, Defendant Schilling referred to Mrs. Reading as an “extremist” and
a security threat. True and correct copies of several of these posts are attached hereto as
collective Exhibit 23.

101.  One social media post from Defendant Schilling stated: “The Joint Base
leadership takes this situation [i.e., Mrs. Reading’s protected speech] very seriously and from the
beginning have been working with multiple state and local enforcement agencies to monitor the

situation to ensure the continued safety of the entire community.” (Emphasis added.)
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102.  Online statements by Defendant Schilling were intended to convey the impression
that elements of the United States Armed Forces were taking official governmental action
against Mrs. Reading and that he was speaking in an official governmental capacity about Mrs.
Reading. Such statements are unconstitutionally retaliatory and have a chilling effect on the
exercise of Mrs. Reading’s constitutionally protected rights.

103. In the climate of antipathy toward Mrs. Reading which all the Defendants—acting
in concert—have created, a petition condemning her was circulated online at change.org.
Mrs. Reading has received constant online harassment, and she now fears for the safety of
herself and her family, especially after reporting to the police a truck sitting outside of her house
for an extended period. Her standing in the community has also been harmed by Defendants’
concerted campaign, as government actors, to retaliate against her speech by depicting her as a
“right wing extremist” and a threat to public safety.

104. In response to this furor, an online petition in support of Mrs. Reading was
created, noting the threats against her that the Defendants had incited. In an email sent under his
official title and using his official military account, dated December 5, 2022, with a copy to
Defendant Duff, Defendant Schilling denounced the petition supporting Mrs. Reading. A true
and correct copy of this email exchange is attached hereto as Exhibit 24.

105. Defendant Schilling’s December 5 email complained that Mrs. Reading and a
friend of hers were “mak[ing] comments on it to stir the pot.” Defendant Schilling did not
explain what he meant by “stir the pot” or how he knew the motives of those commenting. In his
reply email, Defendant Duff states, without explanation, that the threats to Mrs. Reading and her
family were not “credible” and that he will “continue to monitor social media and take

appropriate action if needed.” It is not clear against whom Defendant Duff might take action.
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106. In addition to his military-related emails to the other Joint Base Actors about
Mrs. Reading, as set forth above, Defendant Schilling made additional online posts via Facebook
attacking her, including one sharing the online petition calling her an “extremist” and another
post falsely accusing her of lying about her daughter’s exposure to the above-noted objectionable
sexual material at the school. Defendant Schilling knew his posts were false when he made
them. A true and correct copy of several of these posts is attached hereto as collective
Exhibit 25.

107. Defendant Schilling’s additional actions, evincing malice, were intended to
further retaliate against Mrs. Reading for her constitutionally protected conduct and to incite
public animus against her, abusing the power and prestige of the United States military to
achieve his ends.

The Joint Base Coverup

108. The Joint Base Actors acted with the assistance and/or approval of their respective
Joint Base Superiors: Defendant Colonel Wes Adams as Base Commander, in charge of all the
Joint Base Actors; Defendant Colonel Mitchell Wisniewski III as Deputy Commander in charge
of Defendants Hall, Lesher, and Vazquez; and Defendant Colonel Robert Grimmett, one of the
Joint Base Actors himself, as Commander of the 87" Mission Support Group and thus also head
of the Joint Base Security Forces Squadron, of which Defendant Hall was Deputy Commander.

109. The Joint Base Superiors participated in, approved or ratified an official coverup
of the Joint Base Actors’ unlawful conduct, which they must have known was now the subject of
national media publicity. The coverup was designed to convey to the public the false impression
that Defendant Schilling acted merely in his civilian capacity when said Superiors knew, or

reasonably should have known, that Schilling had acted via his official military account.
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110.  The Joint Base further falsely claimed to the media that Defendant Schilling was
acting alone when in fact, he had acted with the other Joint Base Actors under the respective
authority of their Joint Base Superiors. This is shown by the emails the Joint Base had hidden but
were uncovered by Mrs. Reading’s OPRA request to Defendant North Hanover Township and
are described and attached as Exhibits to this Verified Complaint.

111. More specifically, on December 7, 2022, Lt. Colonel Addie Leonhardt, Chief of
Public Information for the U.S. Army Reserve Command Public Affairs Office, stated in
response to an inquiry from Fox News that Defendant Schilling “posted as an individual” and
that his statements “do not constitute an official Army Reserve statement.” The Joint Base thus
misled the public by diverting attention to Defendant Schilling’s personal Facebook posts, noted
above, while ignoring the military email exchanges between Defendant Schilling, the other Joint
Base Actors, Defendant Duff and other law enforcement agencies (via Defendant Vazquez) in
connection with their scheme to “keep the pressure on” Mrs. Reading in order to censor and chill
her speech and silence the expression of her point of view going forward.

112.  The Joint Base’s December 7th statement to Fox News further misled the public
by failing to mention that one of Defendant Schilling’s Facebook posts, noted above, revealed
that “The Joint Base leadership takes this situation [i.e., Mrs. Reading’s protected speech] very
seriously and from the beginning have been working with multiple state and local enforcement
agencies to monitor the situation to ensure the continued safety of the entire community.”
(Emphasis added.)

113.  The December 7th statement to Fox News also conspicuously failed to deny
Defendant Schilling’s revelation that “the Joint Base leadership” regarded Mrs. Reading’s

protected speech “very seriously” as a matter of public “safety” warranting the intervention of
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state and local enforcement agencies. The Joint Base has never denied Defendant Schilling’s
assertion.

114. In a subsequent email sent on February 16, 2023, to address Mrs. Reading’s
uncovering of the above-noted emails revealing the falsity of the Joint Base’s December 7th
statement, the public affairs office of the Joint Base (JB MDL/PA) responded to another inquiry
from Fox News by again falsely claiming that no one but Defendant Schilling in his non-military
capacity was involved in the actions against Mrs. Reading, contrary to the facts demonstrated in
the preceding allegations of this Verified Complaint, which show the active involvement of
several Joint Base personnel.

115. The Joint Base statement of February 16th continued to mislead the public by
falsely claiming that Defendant Schilling’s now-uncovered email communications with
Defendants Hall, Lesher, and Vazquez were merely “courtesy copying one or more individuals
during e-mail communication... to ensure awareness and does not indicate a change in the
decision making process.” The February 16th statement does not indicate what “awareness”
Defendant Schilling was supposedly ensuring.

116. And as with the earlier statement of December 7, the Joint Base’s February 16,
2023 statement continues to mislead the public by once again ignoring the substance of the
military email exchange between the Joint Base Actors and law enforcement and security
agencies, and by again diverting attention to Defendant Schilling’s Facebook posts “from a
personal account unaffiliated with the military,” while still ignoring the fact that even one of
Defendant Schilling’s Facebook posts revealed that “The Joint Base leadership takes this
situation [i.e., Mrs. Reading’s protected speech] very seriously and from the beginning have been
working with multiple state and local enforcement agencies to monitor the situation to ensure the

continued safety of the entire community.” (Emphasis added.)
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117.  The February 16th statement still further misleads the public by stating that “any
information or concerns received from the public were passed onto the local civilian law
enforcement responsible for jurisdiction” without revealing that said “information or concerns”
originated with the Joint Base Actors themselves, not the general public. The same statement
impliedly admits, however, that military personnel—that is, the Joint Base Actors—improperly
treated Mrs. Reading’s First Amendment-protected Facebook post as a matter for law
enforcement referral in a successful effort to censor, retaliate for, and chill her speech.

118.  Upon information and belief, the prompting to make these false and misleading
statements to the media and the public came from, or was ratified after the fact, by Defendants
Adams, Grimmett and Wisniewski, who had to be aware of the national news coverage to which
the Joint Base was falsely responding. Said Defendants thus concealed, protected, and
perpetuated the Joint Base Actors’ conspiracy against Mrs. Reading.

119. By means of this coverup, the Joint Base Superiors themselves advanced the
conspiracy against Mrs. Reading, thereby further ratifying, adopting, affirming, and endorsing
the unlawful conduct of the Joint Base Actors under their supervision, direction, and control,
whom they have failed to discipline in any way, upon information and belief.

120. The Joint Base Actors were also involved in the coverup as they either authorized
or allowed the Joint Base’s false and misleading statements to the media to be published and
disseminated to the public without correction, knowing the statements were false and
intentionally misleading.

121.  The Joint Base’s deceptive statements to the media evidence knowledge th